STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Edgefield County

Honorable Diane Schafer Goodstein, Circuit Court Judge

ORIGINAL

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

STEVEN LOUIS BARNES,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2017-002140

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RECEIVED
MAR 19 2019
SC Court of Appeals

KATHRINE H. HUDGINS
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the trial judge err in refusing to dismiss the indictment because Appellant was denied his state and federal constitutional right to a speedy trial?
2. Did the trial judge err in failing to dismiss the indictment for the State's failure to comply with the Interstate Agreement on Detainers, finding that the issue had been disposed of and no new action commenced?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In August of 2005, the Edgefield County Grand Jury indicted Appellant, Steven Louis Barnes, for murder and kidnapping, indictments #2005-GS-19-273, 457. In December of 2005, Appellant was served with written notice of the State's intention to seek the death penalty. On November 8, 2010, Appellant proceeded to jury trial before the Honorable R. Knox McMahon. Robert J. Harte and David B. Tarr represented Appellant. Donald V. Meyers, Ervin J. Maye and H. Franklin Young, III prosecuted the case. The jury found Appellant guilty of both charges. Following the guilty verdict, a full sentencing hearing was conducted. The jury determined that two aggravating circumstances existed, torture and kidnapping. The jury recommended a sentence of death. Judge McMahon imposed the death sentence. Appellant timely filed and perfected a direct appeal. On January 15, 2014, the South Carolina Supreme Court reversed the convictions and sentences and remanded for a new trial. State v. Barnes, 407 S.C. 27, 753 S.E.2d 545 (2014).

In October of 2017, the Edgefield County Grand Jury re-indicted Appellant for murder, indictment #2017-GS-19-01788. On October 9, 2017, Appellant proceeded to jury trial before the Honorable Diane S. Goodstein. Jeffrey P. Bloom and William S. McGuire represented Appellant at trial. S.R. Hubbard, III, L. Suzanne Mayes, David Shawn Graham and Lucas A. Pencelli prosecuted the case. The jury found Appellant guilty and Judge Goodstein sentenced Appellant to life without the possibility of parole pursuant to S.C. Code §17-25-45. A timely notice of intent to appeal was served on October 16, 2017. This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The trial court's ruling on a motion for speedy trial is reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard. An abuse of discretion occurs when the court's decision is based on an error of law or upon factual findings that are without evidentiary support. State v. Hunsberger, 418 S.C. 335, 794 S.E.2d 368 (2016).

ARGUMENT

1. The trial judge erred in refusing to dismiss the indictment because Appellant was denied his state and federal constitutional right to a speedy trial.

The jury found Appellant guilty in the fatal shooting of Samuel J. Sturrup in Edgefield County on September 3, 2001. An arrest warrant for murder was issued for Appellant on January 25, 2002. Eight years and ten months later, on November 8, 2010, the case went to trial. Appellant was found guilty and sentenced to death. The conviction and sentence were reversed by the South Carolina Supreme Court on January 15, 2014. State v. Barnes, 407 S.C. 27, 753 S.E.2d 545 (2014).

On October 9, 2017, over fifteen years after the arrest warrant was issued, the case went to trial a second time. Prior to the second trial, on August 14, 2017, Appellant filed a motion to dismiss the indictments based upon the violation of Appellant's speedy trial rights under both the state and federal constitution. (Motion to Dismiss Based Upon the Violation of Appellant's Speedy Trial Rights, R. p. 704-724). The motion was heard at the time of trial on October 9, 2017. (October 9, 2017, R. pp. 38-102; 131-139; 144-165). The judge refused to dismiss the indictment and on November 17, 2017, filed a written order denying Appellant's motion to dismiss the indictment based on the speedy trial violation and denying Appellant's motion to dismiss based on a violation of the Interstate Agreement of Detainers Act [IAD]. (Order Denying Defendant's Motions to Dismiss, R. p. 850-867). At the close of the case Appellant renewed the previously made motions. (R. p. 634, lines 17-19). The judge declined to change her ruling. The trial judge erred in refusing to dismiss the indictment based on the speedy trial violation.

In State v. Hunsberger, 418 S.C. 335, 342, 794 S.E.2d 368, 371 (2016), the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote, "The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution

provides, 'In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial.' U.S. Const. amend. VI. Similarly, the South Carolina Constitution provides that "Any person charged with an offense shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial." S.C. Const. art. I, § 14. A speedy trial means a trial without unreasonable and unnecessary delay. State v. Langford, 400 S.C. 421, 441, 735 S.E.2d 471, 482 (2012) (quoting Wheeler v. State, 247 S.C. 393, 400, 147 S.E.2d 627, 630 (1966)). In Smith v. Hooey, 393 U.S. 374, 374-75, 89 S. Ct. 575, 575, 21 L. Ed. 2d 607 (1969), the United States Supreme Court wrote, "In Klopfer v. North Carolina, 386 U.S. 213, 87 S.Ct. 988, 18 L.Ed.2d 1, this Court held that, by virtue of the Fourteenth Amendment, the Sixth Amendment right to a speedy trial¹ is enforceable against the States as 'one of the most basic rights preserved by our Constitution.' Id., at 226, 87 S.Ct. at 995." The remedy for a speedy trial violation is dismissal of the charges. Langford, 400 S.C. at 442, 735 S.E.2d at 482 (internal citation omitted).

In determining whether a defendant has been deprived of the right to a speedy trial, the court must consider four factors: (1) the length of the delay; (2) the reason for the delay; (3) the defendant's assertion of the right; and, (4) prejudice to the defendant. Barker v. Wingo, 407 U.S. 514, 530, 92 S.Ct. 2182, 33 L.Ed 2d 101 (1972). Although there is no fixed time in which a defendant must be tried, the right to a speedy trial may be violated where the delay is arbitrary and unreasonable. State v. Waites, 270 S.C 104, 108, 240 S.E.2d 651, 653 (1978). In a footnote in Doggett v. United States, 505 U.S. 647, 112 S.Ct. 2686, 120 L.Ed.2d 520 (1992), the Court wrote, "Depending on the nature of the charges, the lower courts have generally found post accusation delay 'presumptively prejudicial' at least as it approaches one year." Doggett Fn. 1

In Langford, 400 S.C. 421, 442, 735 S.E.2d 471, 482 (2012) the Court wrote:

We begin our analysis with the "triggering mechanism" of a speedy trial claim, which is the length of the delay. Barker, 407 U.S. at 530, 92 S.Ct. 2182. We

should not even examine the remaining factors “[u]ntil there is some delay which his presumptively prejudicial.” Id. The clock starts running on a defendant's speedy trial right when he is “indicted, arrested, or otherwise officially accused,” and therefore we are to include the time between arrest and indictment. United States v. MacDonald, 456 U.S. 1, 6, 102 S.Ct. 1497, 71 L.Ed.2d 696 (1982).

As in Hunsberger, because the timeline is essential to determining that Appellant's speedy trial rights were violated, important dates are outlined below.

- January 25, 2002 – Arrest warrant for murder. (Court's Exhibit #3, R. p. 773)
- March 7, 2002 – Extradition Order lodged against Appellant as he awaits trial in Georgia. (Court's Exhibit #3, R. p. 777).
- December 15, 2003 – Conviction in Georgia.
- December 2004-January 2005 – IAD claim filed by Appellant.
- May 18, 2005 – Appellant extradited to South Carolina.
- May 25, 2005 – Hearing before the Honorable William P. Keesley on IAD claim. Appellant was not represented by counsel.
- May 27, 2005 – IAD claim denied and continuance granted. (Court's Exhibit #3, R. pp. 779-781).
- June 6, 2005 – Attorney O. Lee Sturkey appointed to represent Appellant. Sturkey, however, never met with Appellant. (Court's Exhibit #3, R. p. 782).
- August 10, 2005 – Appellant indicted for murder and kidnapping.
- September 1, 2005 – Attorney Robert Harte appointed to replace Attorney Sturkey. (Court's Exhibit #3, R. pp. 785-786).
- September 8, 2005 – Appellant filed motion to represent himself. (Court's Exhibit #3, R. pp. 787-789).
- September 8, 2005 – Appellant filed a written motion to dismiss pursuant to the violation of the IAD. (Court's Exhibit #3, R. pp. 790-797).
- September 14, 2005 – Appellant filed with the Edgefield County Clerk of Court a letter requesting that the attorney move for a speedy trial and dismissal pursuant to the IAD. Appellant's motion to represent himself not yet heard. (Court's Exhibit #3, R. pp. 800-802).

- October 31, 2005 – The Honorable J. Cordell Maddox vested with exclusive jurisdiction over the case. (Court's Exhibit #3, R. p. 803).
- November 18, 2005 – Appellant filed with the Edgefield County Clerk of Court a letter requesting that the attorney oppose any continuance motions and specifically referenced undue delay and the IAD. Appellant's motion to represent himself not yet heard. (Court's Exhibit #3, R. pp. 804-808).
- December 13, 2005 – Appellant served with State's notice of intent to seek the death penalty. A letter from the Solicitor to counsel indicated that the case would be called for trial in 2006. (Court's Exhibit #3, R. pp. 811-812).
- February 8, 2006 – Attorney David Tarr is appointed as co-counsel. (Court's Exhibit #3, R. p. 813).
- May 16, 2006 – Trial date moved to January or February 2007. (Court's Exhibit #3, R. p. 815).
- April 17, 2008 – Trial date moved to June 2008. (Court's Exhibit #3, R. p. 816).
- May 13, 2008 – Attorneys for Appellant moved for a continuance and that motion was granted. (Court's Exhibit #3, R. p. 817).
- January 25, 2010 – The Honorable R. Knox McMahon vested with exclusive jurisdiction over the case, replacing Judge Maddox. (Court's Exhibit #3, R. p. 820).
- November 8-17, 2010 – First trial.
- January 15, 2014 - South Carolina Supreme Court reversed the convictions and sentences and remanded for a new trial. State v. Barnes, 407 S.C. 27, 753 S.E.2d 545 (2014).
- January 31, 2014 – Remittitur issued.
- April 23, 2014 – Appointment of counsel hearing held.
- June 9, 2014 – The Honorable Diane S. Goodstein vested with exclusive jurisdiction over the case.
- September 11, 2014 – Attorneys Jeffrey P. Bloom and William S. McGuire appointed to represent Appellant. The State objects to the appointment of counsel.
- September 17, 2014 – The State filed an interlocutory appeal in regard to the appointment of counsel.

- July 1, 2015 – The South Carolina Supreme Court affirmed the appointment of counsel. State v. Barnes, 413 S.C. 1. 774 S.E.2d 454 (2015).
- July 14, 2015 – The State filed a petition for rehearing.
- August 6, 2015 – The South Carolina Supreme Court denied the petition for rehearing.
- August 14, 2017 – Appellant filed motions to dismiss for violation of the speedy trial right and violation of the IAD.
- October 9, 2017- Second trial.

In the written motion to dismiss based on the speedy trial violation Appellant argued that the fifteen year delay between January of 2002 when the arrest warrant was issued and October of 2017, the date of the second trial date, triggered the speedy trial analysis. (Motion to Dismiss based on Speedy Trial Violation, R. p. 708). The trial judge, however, ruled that the timeline for the speedy trial analysis started on January 31, 2014, when the South Carolina Supreme Court issued the remittitur after reversing the first conviction and sentence. (Order Denying Defendant's Motion to Dismiss, R. p. 857). The judge then found that the three year and seven month delay between the issuance of the remittitur on January 31, 2014, and the October 9, 2017, second trial date triggered the speedy trial analysis. (Order Denying Defendant's Motion to Dismiss, R. p. 858). Appellant met the initial burden of establishing the threshold time frame triggering the speedy trial analysis under either time frame. In State v. Hunsberger, 418 S.C. 335, 343, 794 S.E.2d 368, 372 (2016), the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote, "Once the accused has met this initial burden, a court must look to four factors, among the totality of the circumstances, to decide whether the defendant's right to a speedy trial has been denied. Barker v. Wingo, 407 U.S. 514, 530–31, 92 S.Ct. 2182, 33 L.Ed.2d 101 (1972); see also Langford, 400 S.C. at 441, 735 S.E.2d at 482."

1. Length of Delay

As to the first Barker factor, length of the delay, based on the totality of the circumstances, this Court should consider the entire over fifteen year delay – the eight year and ten month delay between issuance of the arrest warrant in January of 2002, and Appellant’s first trial in November of 2010, the over three year period during the automatic direct appeal process from November 2010, until January of 2014, and the three year and seven month delay between the issuance of the remittitur on January 31, 2014, and the second trial on October 9, 2017. The trial judge erred in refusing to consider the fifteen year time frame. While the entire fifteen year time period cannot be attributed solely to the State, as argued by Appellant in the written motion to suppress based on the speedy trial violation, much of the fifteen year delay is attributed to the State¹. (Motion to Dismiss for Speedy Trial Violation, R. p. 717). This extraordinary delay weighs heavily against the State. See Hunsberger, 418 S.C. at 346, 794 S.E.2d at 373. (Finding that the eight year delay attributable to the State weighs heavily against the State.)

2. Reason for Delay

As to the second factor from Barker, the reason for the delay, “A speedy trial claim must be ‘analyzed in terms of the circumstances of each case, balancing the conduct of the prosecution and the defense.’ State v. Pittman, 373 S.C. 527, 549, 647 S.E.2d 144, 155 (2008) (citing Barker, 407 U.S. at 530, 92 S.Ct. 2182).” Hunsberger, 418 S.C. at 343, 794 S.E.2d at 372. Based on the particular circumstances of the present case and balancing the conduct of the prosecution and the defense, the reasons for the delay weigh heavily against the State.

The delay between January of 2002, and Appellant’s conviction in Georgia in December of 2003, is neutral as Appellant awaited trial in another state. The delay between December 2003,

¹ In the motion to dismiss Appellant argued that eight years and seven months of the delay were attributable to the State.

and May of 2008, however, is directly attributable to the State. During this four year and seven month time frame nothing prevented the State from bringing the case to trial. While counsel for Appellant moved for a continuance on May 13, 2008, the case was still not tried until November 2010, two and a half years later. After a reasonable period of time following the continuance, the State had a duty to call the case for trial. At least one year of this delay should be attributed to the State, resulting in a five year and seven month delay attributable to the State.

The delay between November of 2010 and January 2014, is neutral because the case was pending automatic appellate review. The one year and seven month delay between January of 2014, when the remittitur issued and August 6, 2015, when the South Carolina Supreme Court affirmed the trial judge's appointment of counsel and denied the State's petition for rehearing, is directly attributable to the State. The State, rather than proceeding to trial, chose to challenge the appointment of counsel by filing an interlocutory appeal. The State's choice in appealing the judge's appointment of counsel is distinguished from the automatic appellate review following Appellant's first conviction. While the automatic appellate review is neutral, the State's decision to challenge the appointment of counsel, a firmly established fundamental constitutional right², is solely attributable to the State. The remaining delay between August 2015, and the second trial date of October 9, 2017 is neutral. The State is responsible for a total seven year and two month delay. This delay is analogous to the eight year extraordinary delay in Hunsberger and weighs heavily against the State.

First, the trial judge erred in refusing to consider the delay in calling the case to trial the first time. As discussed above, there was a five year and seven month delay attributable to the State between the issuance of the arrest warrant and the first trial. The trial judge in the present case first

² See Gideon v. Wainwright, 372 U.S. 335 (1963).

found that the prior time frame should not be considered because the speedy trial issue was not raised during the first trial. (Order Denying Motion to Dismiss, R. p. 857). Appellant asserted the right to a speedy trial at the first trial and that issue will be addressed below. Later in the order, however, the trial judge provided an alternative analysis and timeline which included the time frame between the issuance of the arrest warrant in January of 2002, and the first trial in November 2010. (Order Denying Motion to Dismiss, R. pp. 863-867). In the order the trial judge wrote:

January 25, 2002 through May 13, 2008, a period of 6 years and 4 months is attributable to the Defendant. By requesting a continuance, the Defendant waived his right to dismissal of the charges under a speedy trial claim. The Supreme Court in *Barnes I* ruled that this was the effect on Defendant's IAD claim. Although the two types of speedy trial claims are not analyzed the same, the fact that a continuance was sought necessarily reflects that the defense was not ready for trial. I find that the defense was not ready for trial, but under case law it is clear that when there is a request for continuance that there is a waiver of the dismissal request under speedy trial for the period up to the present or continuously. This doesn't mean that the constitutional right is gone, but that at that time the right to have the charges dismissed is waived. The Defendant's waiver results in a delay attributable to the Defendant and must be weighed against him.

(Order Denying Motion to Dismiss, R. p. 866).

The trial judge erred. Appellant did not move for a continuance until May 13, 2008. Appellant began seeking relief under the IAD and opposing continuances starting in December 2004/January 2005, when he first filed his IAD claim. As discussed above, the delay between December 2003, and May of 2008, and the delay of at least one year during the two and a half years between the continuance and the first trial are directly attributable to the State.

Second, the trial judge erred in finding that the delay between November 14, 2014, and July 1, 2015, when the State chose to file an interlocutory appeal was neutral. (Order Denying Motion to Dismiss, R. pp. 858-859). As discussed above, the one year and seven month delay between January of 2014, when the remittitur issued and August 6, 2015, when the South Carolina Supreme Court affirmed the trial judge's appointment of counsel and denied the State's petition for rehearing,

is directly attributable to the State. The trial judge correctly attributed to the State the one month period from July 1, 20015, to July 27, 2015, when the State sought rehearing.

The judge also erred in attributing the one year and four month time frame from August 10, 2015, to December 16, 2016, to Appellant when Appellant's attorney was under an order of protection during that time frame. As argued above this time frame as well as the time frame from December 16, 2016 to the time of trial on October 9, 2017, which the trial judge attributed to the State, is neutral. This Court should find that the State is responsible for an extraordinary delay of seven years and two months.

In Hunsberger, 418 S.C. at 346, 794 S.E.2d at 374, the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote:

The State's justifications for delay in trying a defendant are weighted differently: (1) a deliberate attempt to delay trial as a means to hamper the defense weighs heavily against the State; (2) negligence or overcrowded dockets weigh less heavily against the State, but are ultimately its responsibility; (3) a valid reason, such as a missing witness, justifies an appropriate delay; and (4) delays occasioned by the accused weigh against him. Langford, 400 S.C. at 443, 735 S.E.2d at 483 (internal citation omitted). Ultimately, justifying the delay between charge and trial is the responsibility of the State. Langford, 400 S.C. at 443, 735 S.E.2d at 483 (internal citation omitted).

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