STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

ORIGINAL

Appeal from Edgefield County
Honorable Diane Schafer Goodstein, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2017-002140

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

STEVEN LOUIS BARNES,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

S. R. HUBBARD, III
Solicitor, Eleventh Judicial Circuit

205 E. Main Street
Lexington Judicial Center
Lexington, SC 29072
(803) 785-8352

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

MAR 07 2019

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Edgefield County

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

ARGUMENT

I.

The trial judge did not abuse her broad discretion by failing to dismiss Appellant's murder indictment based on an alleged violation of Appellant's speedy trial rights because the approximately forty-four-month span of time between the end of Appellant's successful appeal of his earlier convictions and Appellant's subsequent retrial for his sixteen-year-old victim's murder was not excessively or unreasonably lengthy, was only partially attributable to the State, did not result from any intentional willfulness or unreasonable neglect on the part of the State, and did not cause any meaningful prejudice to Appellant, who was serving a life sentence for crimes he committed in Georgia during the time period leading up to his most-recent trial.

Appellant contends the trial judge erred by failing to dismiss his murder indictment based on an alleged violation of his constitutional speedy trial rights. In support of that contention, Appellant maintains the trial judge improperly failed to consider as part of her speedy trial analysis the entire time period between his arrest in connection to his sixteen-year-old victim's murder and his eventual retrial that occurred roughly forty-four months after his convictions from his earlier trial in connection to the same murder were reversed on appeal.¹¹ Then, relying on the "extraordinary" fifteen-year period of delay he contends the trial judge should have considered, Appellant maintains his murder indictment should have been dismissed because the delays involved were allegedly largely attributable to the State, he purportedly validly asserted his speedy trial rights at various points prior to his original trial's commencement, and he

¹¹ Notably, in raising that particular claim on appeal, Appellant made an entirely conclusory argument that included no citations to any supporting authority. (App. Br. p. 9; p. 11). As a result, that unsupported and conclusory argument was not properly preserved for appellate review and should be deemed abandoned on appeal. See *State v. Jones*, 344 S.C. 48, 58, 543 S.E.2d 541, 546 (2001) (finding an argument to be abandoned where it raised in a conclusory manner); *Glasscock, Inc. v. United States Fid. & Guar. Co.*, 348 S.C. 76, 81, 557 S.E.2d 689, 691-692 (Ct. App. 2001) (holding an argument raised on appeal in a conclusory fashion without citation to authority was abandoned for appellate purposes and noting "South Carolina law clearly states that short, conclusory statements made without supporting authority are deemed abandoned on appeal and therefore not presented for review").

suffered presumptive—but otherwise unspecified—prejudice as a result of the delays.¹² To the contrary, the trial judge correctly limited her speedy trial analysis to the delays that occurred between the point when remittitur was issued at the conclusion of Appellant's appeal of his original convictions and the date of Appellant's retrial for his victim's murder as those were the only delays pertinent to the analysis. Furthermore, the trial judge in no way abused her discretion by failing to dismiss Appellant's case based on an alleged speedy trial violation because the roughly forty-four-month period of delay at issue was not excessively or unreasonably lengthy, was only partially attributable to the State, was not the result of any willfulness or unreasonable neglect on the part of the State, and did not result in any actual or meaningful prejudice to Appellant, who was serving a life sentence for crimes he committed in Georgia during the time period he was awaiting retrial. Under such circumstances, Appellant's speedy trial rights were not violated, and the trial judge correctly declined to impose the extreme sanction of dismissal in his case. Appellant's conviction should be affirmed.

RELEVANT FACTS

Less than two months before Appellant's most-recent trial was scheduled to begin, defense counsel submitted a motion seeking for the case to be dismissed based on an alleged

¹² Significantly, in his appellate brief, Appellant does not contend the trial judge abused her discretion by finding no speedy trial violation occurred due to the delays incurred from the date of the issuance of remittitur in January of 2014 to the date of the retrial in October of 2017. (App. Br. pp. 4-17). Instead, Appellant *solely* contends the trial judge abused her discretion by not finding a speedy trial violation occurred in light of the delays associated with the entire period of time between the date of his arrest in January of 2002 and the date of the retrial. (App. Br. pp. 4-17). Therefore, assuming the trial judge correctly determined the speedy trial analysis in Appellant's case should have been limited to the time period from the end of his first appeal to the retrial date, any issue Appellant had with the trial judge's speedy trial ruling has been abandoned on appeal as Appellant has not challenged the trial judge's finding no speedy trial violation occurred from the limited period of January of 2014 to October of 2017. See State v. Sampson, 317 S.C. 423, 427, 454 S.E.2d 721, 723 (Ct. App. 1995) (instructing unchallenged and unappealed rulings are the law of the case).

violation of Appellant's state and federal constitutional rights to a speedy trial. (R. p. 16; p. 38; pp. 704-724). In support of that motion, defense counsel discussed the various actions undertaken in Appellant's case from the point of his 2002 arrest until his scheduled retrial and maintained the State was responsible for eight years and seven months of delays during that time period. (R. pp. 714-717). Furthermore, defense counsel appeared to suggest the reasons for the delays were not satisfactory; alleged Appellant repeatedly asserted his speedy trial rights through his IAD Act claim and various pro se filings, and argued Appellant suffered "enormous" prejudice as a result of the delays due to potential discrepancies in the testimony of the witnesses and the "severe" conditions of his confinement while awaiting trial.¹³ (R. pp. 717-723). For those reasons, defense counsel contended Appellant's speedy trial rights were violated and his case should be dismissed based on the roughly eight-year delay before his original trial and the roughly fifteen-year delay before his scheduled retrial. (R. pp. 723-724).

Subsequently, at the outset of Appellant's trial, the trial judge conducted a hearing on the speedy trial dismissal motion. (R. pp. 38-39). In support of the motion, defense counsel reasserted his claims regarding the delays prior to Appellant's most-recent trial and maintained the entire period from Appellant's arrest to retrial was pertinent to the speedy trial analysis. (R. pp. 44-49; pp. 60-62). However, defense counsel conceded the speedy trial issue had not previously been addressed by a circuit court judge, was not raised at Appellant's first trial, and was not raised on appeal following the conclusion of that trial. (R. p. 101). Furthermore, defense counsel conceded the various pro se filings submitted by Appellant while he was

¹³ Notwithstanding the fact Appellant was serving a life sentence for crimes he committed in Georgia at the time he was being confined in South Carolina prior to the retrial, the specific conditions of Appellant's pre-trial confinement were the direct result of his own commission of numerous disruptive, violent, and vexing acts at the various facilities where he was held prior to the retrial. (R. pp. 76-78; p. 697; p. 779; pp. 828-833; p. 850; p. 864).

represented by counsel did not have to be considered as valid assertions of his rights due to the prohibition on hybrid representation in South Carolina. (R. pp. 60-62). Nevertheless, defense counsel inconsistently argued those pro se filings somehow could and should be considered as proper speedy trial assertions. (R. pp. 60-62). In rebuttal, the solicitor argued the only relevant time frame for the speedy trial analysis in Appellant's case was the time period from the issuance of remittitur following the reversal of his capital murder conviction to the date of his most-recent trial, which the solicitor acknowledged was sufficiently lengthy such that consideration of the relevant speedy trial factors was warranted. (R. pp. 63-64; pp. 69-70; pp. 753-756; p. 769). The solicitor then discussed the various periods of delay involved in the case, noted the State made repeated attempts to get Appellant's case scheduled for trial and did nothing to intentionally delay the case, pointed out Appellant was responsible for a number of the delays, and asserted Appellant suffered no meaningful prejudice as a result of any delays that were incurred.¹⁴ (R. pp. 71-78; p. 86; pp. 756-769).

After considering the arguments of counsel, the trial judge found no speedy trial violation occurred in Appellant's case. (R. p. 139; pp. 164-165; p. 867). In support of that conclusion, the trial judge determined the relevant time period for the speedy trial analysis in Appellant's case began with the issuance of remittitur in January of 2014 after his original convictions were reversed, reviewed the various delays that were incurred from that point in time going forward, and found delays totaling approximately two years and three months were attributable to the

¹⁴ Notably, supporting the solicitor's assertions, defense counsel candidly acknowledged he engaged in regular meetings with the solicitor prior to Appellant's most-recent trial, characterized those meetings as "very substantive," and noted the solicitor gave Appellant's case "full attention" during the time period leading up to the scheduling of the retrial. (R. p. 81; p. 83). Moreover, defense counsel further acknowledged he never suggested to the solicitor Appellant's case needed to be scheduled for trial during the course of their discussions leading up to the retrial. (R. p. 83).

State. (R. pp. 131-139; pp. 145-159; pp. 857-858). However, the trial judge concluded the reasons for the delays were largely neutral, determined the delays were not deliberately caused by the State, found Appellant only validly raised a speedy trial claim for the first time in August of 2017, and held the prejudicial effects of the delays were largely minimal while Appellant received a benefit from the delays through the withdrawal of the death penalty notice.¹⁵ (R. pp. 132-139; pp. 145-159; pp. 858-863). Following that ruling, the trial judge proceeded with an analysis of the entire time period involved in Appellant's case in the event it proved to be necessary and concluded no speedy trial violation occurred even if the delays involved in that time period were considered due to the fact the earlier delays were largely attributable to continuances requested by the defense coupled with the fact some time was legitimately needed for investigation and preparation prior to the original death penalty trial. (R. p. 159; pp. 162-165; pp. 863-867). Accordingly, for all those reasons, the trial judge declined to impose the extreme sanction of dismissal in Appellant's case. (R. pp. 164-165; p. 867).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In criminal cases, appellate courts sit to review errors of law only. State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001). When reviewing a ruling on a speedy trial motion on appeal, the appellate court reviews the trial judge's ruling under an abuse of discretion standard. State v. Hunsberger, 418 S.C. 335, 342, 794 S.E.2d 368, 371-372 (2016); see State v. Reaves, 414 S.C. 118, 132, 777 S.E.2d 213, 220 (2015) (“[A] trial court's decision as to whether to dismiss an indictment based on speedy trial grounds is reviewed for an abuse of discretion.”).

¹⁵ In finding the reasons for the delays was largely neutral, the trial judge noted she regularly engaged in status conferences with the parties in an effort to get Appellant's case scheduled for trial, and she indicated a number of the delays were associated with the solicitor's preparations and discussions with defense counsel, which ultimately led to the withdrawal of the death penalty notice. (R. p. 82; p. 84; p. 860).

“An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” State v. McDonald, 343 S.C. 319, 325, 540 S.E.2d 464, 467 (2000); see also United States v. Summers, 666 F.3d 192, 197 (4th Cir. 2011) (instructing an appellate court will not find a trial judge’s ruling constituted an abuse of discretion unless it was arbitrary and irrational).

ANALYSIS

Pursuant to both the United States Constitution and the South Carolina Constitution, an accused in a criminal prosecution has a constitutionally-guaranteed right to a speedy trial. See U.S. Const. amend. VI (“In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial[.]”); S.C. Const. art. I, § 14 (“Any person charged with an offense shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial[.]”). That right is designed to protect against anxiety stemming from public accusation of a crime and to limit the possibility of a lengthy pre-trial delay impairing an accused’s defense. State v. Langford, 400 S.C. 421, 440, 735 S.E.2d 471, 481 (2012). However, most importantly, the right to a speedy trial is chiefly designed to prevent undue pre-trial impairment of liberty. See United States v. Loud Hawk, 474 U.S. 302, 312 (1986) (“[T]he Speedy Trial Clause’s core concern is impairment of liberty[.]”). Critically though, the criminal trial process is designed to move at a deliberate pace due to the many procedural safeguards involved, and, thus, the essential guarantee provided by the right to a speedy trial is the orderly expedition of a charge as opposed to mere speedy expedition. United States v. Ewell, 383 U.S. 116, 120 (1966); see Beavers v. Haubert, 198 U.S. 77, 87 (1905) (“The right of a speedy trial is necessarily relative. It is consistent with delays and depends upon circumstances. It secures rights to a defendant. It does not preclude the rights of public justice.”).

In order to trigger a speedy trial analysis, a criminal defendant's trial must have been delayed for a period of time that is presumptively prejudicial, which is necessarily dependent on the particular circumstances of each case. Langford, 400 S.C. at 442, 735 S.E.2d at 482. Notably, "a simple prosecution for ordinary street crime may have a lower threshold for a presumptively prejudicial delay than a more complex conspiracy case." Id. In South Carolina, a delay of over two years has previously been found to be sufficient to trigger a speedy trial analysis. State v. Waites, 270 S.C. 104, 108, 240 S.E.2d 651, 653 (1978). Likewise, the United States Supreme Court has suggested a delay of roughly one year could—in certain circumstances—be presumptively prejudicial. See Doggett v. United States, 505 U.S. 647, 652, n.1 (1992) ("Depending on the nature of the charges, the lower courts have generally found postaccusation delay 'presumptively prejudicial' at least as it approaches one year."). However, even where a delay that is presumptively prejudicial exists, a speedy trial determination "is *not based on the passage of a specific period of time*" and delay alone is not singularly dispositive. State v. Pittman, 373 S.C. 527, 549, 647 S.E.2d 144, 155 (2007) (emphasis added); see State v. Brazell, 325 S.C. 65, 75, 480 S.E.2d 64, 70 (1997) (recognizing "delay alone is not dispositive").

Ultimately, once a speedy trial analysis has been triggered, the question of whether a defendant's speedy trial rights have been violated is necessarily dependent on the specific circumstances of the defendant's particular case. State v. Robinson, 335 S.C. 620, 625, 518 S.E.2d 269, 272 (Ct. App. 1999). When attempting to answer that question, several factors should be considered. State v. Kennedy, 339 S.C. 243, 249, 528 S.E.2d 700, 703-704 (Ct. App. 2000). Specifically, a court analyzing a speedy trial claim should consider: (1) the length of the delay; (2) the reason for the delay; (3) the defendant's assertion of his right; and (4) whether any prejudice was suffered by the defendant as a result of the delay. Barker v. Wingo, 407 U.S. 514,

530 (1972). Notably though, none of the four factors is alone necessary or sufficient for a finding of a speedy trial violation. Id. at 533. Instead, “they are related factors and must be considered together with such other circumstances as may be relevant.” Id. “In sum, these factors have no talismanic qualities; courts must still engage in a difficult and sensitive balancing process.” Id.

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